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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 
Criminal Action No. 07-109-RMC 

E-GOLD LIMITED, 
GOLD & SILVER RESERVE, INC. 
DOUGLAS L. JACKSON, 
BARRY K. DOWNEY, and 
REID A. JACKSON 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF ERROR CORAM NOBIS 

Defendant-Petitioners e-gold, Ltd. (“EGL”), Gold & Silver Reserve, Inc. 

(“GSR”), Douglas L. Jackson (“Douglas Jackson”), Barry K. Downey (“Downey”), 

and Reid A. Jackson (“Reid Jackson” and, collectively with EGL, GSR, Douglas 

Jackson and Downey, “Petitioners”), by counsel, for their Memorandum of 

Points and Authorities in Support of their Petition for a Writ of Error Coram 

Nobis (“Petition”)1, state as follows: 

I. Background

A. Introduction 

Douglas Jackson, Downey and Reid Jackson were principals of GSR, 

which developed and in 1996 launched an Internet payment system (the “E-gold 

System”) for issuing and circulating the currencies e-gold, e-silver, e-platinum, 

and e-palladium (collectively “E-metal”), the value of which were 100% backed 

by reserves of gold, silver, platinum and palladium respectively.  A payment in 

1 As used herein, “Petition” refers to both the Petition for a Writ of Error Coram 
Nobis and to this Memorandum in support thereof as context requires. 
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the E-gold System was a user authorized transfer of E-metal from one E-metal 

account to another (a “Spend”) and E-metal account balances and Spends were 

denominated by fine weight of precious metal. 

In 1999 and 2000, GSR made substantial improvements to the design of 

the E-gold System with respect to the separation of system and economic roles 

in order to insulate the E-gold System from various risks, and in early 2000 the 

E-gold System was devolved to EGL.  GSR thereafter served as operator of the E-

gold System and separately offered exchange services between national 

currencies and E-metal under the name OmniPay.  The devolution of the E-gold 

System to EGL opened opportunities for independent exchange services to effect 

exchanges of E-metal for national currencies not supported by OmniPay, and 

ultimately there were numerous such independent exchange services serving e-

gold users around the world.  

The E-gold System substantially predated digital currencies like Bitcoin 

and began operations before online payment services such as PayPal became 

widely available to consumers. By the early 2000s, the E-gold System had 

attracted a wide user base and was adopted by a range of merchants selling 

goods and services online. E-gold was overwhelmingly the most popular of the 

E-metals, and resultingly people commonly referred to both the currency e-gold 

and its issuer, EGL, as e-gold unless they were explicitly referring to another E-

metal.  By 2006 the gold reserves backing e-gold exceeded those backing the 

Canadian dollar.   

Case 1:07-cr-00109-RMC   Document 211-1   Filed 07/02/20   Page 2 of 27



-3- 

B. The Government Begins Taking Action Against Petitioners 

Throughout their involvement with the E-gold System, Petitioners 

consistently cooperated with law enforcement and regulatory agencies, including 

responses to over a thousand subpoenas and other law enforcement requests 

since 1999 as well as providing helpful testimony for law enforcement in multiple 

court proceedings. However, despite their track record of extraordinary 

cooperation, agencies including the United States Secret Service (“Secret 

Service”) and the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) (collectively the 

“Government”) began to investigate Petitioners based on their novel theory that 

the E-gold System was an unlicensed money transmitting business under 

applicable federal and state law in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960.  

An initial outgrowth of the Government’s investigation of Petitioners was 

an in rem forfeiture proceeding in this Court against bank accounts held by GSR. 

See Verified Complaint for Forfeiture In Rem, United States v. All Funds Seized 

From Or On Deposit In SunTrust Account Number 1000028078359, In The Name 

Of Gold And Silver Reserve, Inc. et al., No. 1:05-cv-02497-RMC [ECF No. 1] (Dec. 

30, 2005) [hereinafter In Rem Forfeiture Complaint]. In the forfeiture proceeding, 

the Government alleged that the funds held by GSR as part of its business as an 

e-gold dealer were used in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960. The Government’s 

argument that GSR operated an unlicensed money transmitting business rested 

on its allegations that GSR was required to register as a money transmitter with 

(1) the Department of the Treasury under 31 U.S.C. § 5330(a), (2) the District of 

Columbia Department of Insurance, Securities, and Banking (“D.C. DISB”) under 
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the D.C. Money Transmitters Act, and (3) the Florida Office of Financial 

Regulation (“Florida OFR”) under the Florida Money Transmitter’s Code. See In 

Rem Forfeiture Complaint at 7-9.  

C. Florida OFR Conducts Its Own Review of E-Gold, Which the 
Government Intentionally Conceals from Petitioners  

No later than January of 2006, the Government contacted Florida OFR 

regarding EGL, GSR and their principals. The Government’s primary liaison with 

Florida OFR was Roy Dotson (“Dotson”), a Secret Service agent. In January 2006, 

in a telephone call to OFR staff, memorialized in a handwritten note from OFR 

files attached hereto as Exhibit 1, Dotson related the Government’s legal theory 

that “Violation of State Law is violation of Federal Law” – referring to their theory 

that a violation of state money transmitter registration laws can provide the basis 

for criminal liability under 18 U.S.C. § 1960. See Exhibit 1 at 1. Dotson also 

provided OFR staff with contact information for Kimberly Peretti (“Peretti”) of the 

DOJ Criminal Division and Laurel Rimon (“Rimon”), an Assistant United States 

Attorney of the DC USAO. 

In that call, Dotson instructed Florida OFR staff not to contact Petitioner 

Douglas Jackson or any of Petitioners’ employees. See Email from David Burley 

to Dotson (May 19, 2006, 3:04 PM), attached hereto as Exhibit 2. Dotson, at the 

behest of the Government, instructed Florida OFR not to contact Petitioners 

because the Government “did not want to give Mr. Jackson the opportunity to 

boast about his cooperation in resolving complaints and assisting government 

regulators.” See id. The Government thereby prevented Petitioners from knowing 

that the Government had contacted Florida OFR regarding its investigation 
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which would later have tipped the Petitioners to the potential for discoverable 

material from Florida OFR at the time of the prosecution of the case against 

them.  

By May of 2006, Florida OFR determined it should conduct an 

independent review to determine whether EGL, GSR, or companies dealing in e-

gold were required to register as money transmitters under Florida law. See

Memorandum from Mike Ramsden to Jo Schultz (May 15, 2006), attached hereto 

as Exhibit 3. No later than May 19, 2006, the Government, through Dotson, 

learned that Florida OFR planned to issue a legal opinion on the status of EGL 

and e-gold dealers such as GSR dba OmniPay as money transmitters. See

Exhibit 2. In response to further inquiry from Dotson on May 22, seeking 

“reference determining where E-Gold falls”, attached hereto as Exhibit 4, Florida 

OFR informed Dotson that a referral had been made to the Chief Counsel’s Office 

of the Florida Division of Financial Services (“FL DFS”) seeking a legal opinion

“on whether the business operations of E-gold, Ltd, and the E-gold exchange 

outlets, fall under our money transmitter statutes found in Chapter 560, of the 

Florida Statutes” and “advised that you should refer your AUSA and the DOJ 

attorneys to our General Counsel’s office in Tallahassee”.  

Accordingly, on June 5, 2006, Peretti sent a facsimile to the Chief Counsel 

of FL DFS the same day Florida OFR formally opened its legal review of the E-

gold System. See DOJ Facsimile Cover Sheet (Jun. 5, 2006), attached hereto as 

Exhibit 5. See Florida OFR Legal Case Information Sheet (Jun. 6, 2006), 

attached hereto as Exhibit 6. During this inquiry, Assistant General Counsel 
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Bill Oglo (“Oglo”) was responsible for preparing a legal opinion on the money 

transmitter status of EGL and the companies dealing in e-gold. See id. On or 

about July 26, 2006, Florida OFR prepared an “Operational Summary” of EGL 

and the companies dealing in e-gold (and/or other E-metals) which was to form 

the factual basis of Oglo’s legal opinion. See Memorandum from David Burley to 

Chris Hancock and Bob Rosenau (Jul. 26, 2006), attached hereto as Exhibit 7.2

 On or about October 25, 2006, Oglo prepared a complete draft legal 

opinion concluding that Petitioners were not subject to regulation by Florida 

OFR as a money transmitter because Petitioners were not “funds transmitters” 

or “foreign currency exchangers” under Florida law. See Memorandum from Oglo 

to Bob Rosenau and Mike Ramsden (“Florida OFR Legal Opinion”) at 2 (Oct. 25, 

2006), attached hereto as Exhibit 8. In the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, Oglo 

noted that e-gold has “some, but not all, attributes of currency.” See id. at 1 n.2. 

Oglo further noted that “[t]here is no evidence that e-gold is money of the United 

States or of any other country which is designated as legal tender,” and likened 

the exchange of national currency for e-gold to “exchanging domestic or foreign 

money for a commodity, the e-gold unit.” See id. at 2, 3 n.7. As such, Oglo 

concluded that EGL and e-gold dealers like GSR were not “foreign currency 

exchangers” under Florida law. Oglo also concluded that Petitioners were not 

“funds transmitters” under Florida law because that category encompasses only 

persons who receive or transfer “currency” either directly or by means of a 

2 The version of the Operational Summary that was produced to Petitioners by 
Florida OFR is incomplete on its face; Exhibit 7 includes the Operational 
Summary in the form it was produced to Petitioners.  
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“payment instrument.” See id. at 3. Oglo therefore concluded neither EGL nor 

GSR were subject to regulation by Florida OFR as a money transmitter, noting 

also “This writer has no knowledge that any other federal or state regulator has 

held that this activity is within the jurisdiction of their money transmitter code”. 

See id. at 4. 

Dotson and Peretti concealed the existence of the Florida OFR Legal 

Opinion from Petitioners by instructing Florida OFR not to publish the Florida 

OFR Legal Opinion or any other formal statement “regarding the regulatory 

status of E-gold and related entities as possible money transmitters.” See Email 

from David Burley to Alex Toledo (Feb. 6, 2007, 11:12 AM), attached hereto as 

Exhibit 9. Dotson and Peretti represented to Florida OFR that the reason for 

delay was that they did not want the Florida OFR Legal Opinion to be released 

during the pendency of the grand jury’s investigation of Petitioners, which 

ultimately resulted in Petitioners’ indictment in this proceeding. See id. Dotson 

and Peretti indicated to Florida OFR that “they believe[d] the final resolution [of 

the grand jury investigation] will be very beneficial to the federal agencies and 

each of the states with money transmitter regulations.” See id. Florida OFR staff 

understood this to mean that Petitioners were “showing a willingness to register 

as a money transmitter in Florida and potentially other states,” and that “[a]n 

agreement appears to be in the works”. See Exhibit 9, Email from Alex Toledo to 

Chris Hancock (Feb. 6, 2007, 11:26 AM). In fact, no such agreement was “in the 

works,” and the Government instead opted to make an example of Petitioners by 

bringing an indictment against them in this proceeding while concealing the  
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Florida OFR Legal Opinion from the grand jury, the Petitioners and ultimately 

the Court. 

D. Petitioners Plead Guilty After Government Successfully Conceals 
Existence of Florida OFR Legal Opinion From Petitioners 

On or about April 24, 2007, the grand jury issued an indictment 

(“Indictment”) against Petitioners in this proceeding, which was originally filed 

under seal. See Indictment [ECF No. 1] (Apr. 24, 2007). This indictment was 

unsealed on April 27, 2007 by order of this Court. See Order Granting Motion to 

Unseal Case [ECF No. 4] (Apr. 27, 2007). The Indictment charged each of the 

Petitioners with conspiring to launder monetary instruments (“Count I”), 

conspiring to operate an unlicensed money transmitting business (“Count II”), 

and operating an unlicensed money transmitting business (“Count III”). See 

Indictment at 8-9, 18, 25. The Indictment also charged Petitioners Douglas 

Jackson, Barry Downey, and Reid Jackson with money transmission without a 

license from the District of Columbia in violation of D.C. law (“Count IV”). See id.

at 26. Despite the Government’s knowledge of Florida OFR’s independent 

investigation and of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, the Indictment alleged that 

Petitioners “were in the business of transmitting funds on behalf of the public 

and were required to be licensed by . . . the State of Florida”. See id. at 5. On 

April 3, 2008, the grand jury issued a Superseding Indictment that contained 

substantially the same allegations and charges. See Superseding Indictment3

[ECF No. 104] (Apr. 3, 2008). The Government knew the legal conclusions drawn 

3 Subsequent references to the “Indictment” in this Petition refer to the 
Superseding Indictment unless noted otherwise.  
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by the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, therefore, this allegation was knowingly false. 

Because of Dotson and Peretti’s instructions, Florida OFR did not publish 

the Florida OFR Legal Opinion or any other formal statement about the 

regulatory status of e-gold under Florida law. Florida OFR closed its independent 

inquiry on June 5, 2007 without issuing any public opinion. See Florida OFR 

Legal Case Information Sheet (Jun. 5, 2007), attached hereto as Exhibit 10.  

On February 13, 2008, this Court entered a Scheduling Order that, among 

other things, ordered “to the extent it has not already been produced, the 

production of all material pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, Giglio v. United States, 

and their progeny”. See Scheduling Order [ECF No. 95] at 1 (Feb. 13, 2008) 

(emphasis in original). On April 7, 2008, the Government composed a letter to 

Petitioners’ counsel purporting to disclose, “out of an abundance of caution,” all 

undisclosed information the Government believed it was potentially required to 

produce under Brady and Giglio. See Letter from Peretti to Joshua Berman et 

al., at 2 (Apr. 7, 2008), attached hereto as Exhibit 11. Despite the Government’s 

representation in this letter that they had fully complied with, and even gone 

above and beyond, their obligations under Brady and Giglio, the Government 

never revealed the existence of Florida OFR’s independent review of Petitioners’ 

regulatory status under Florida law. The Government also never revealed the 

existence of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion whose release they intentionally 

suppressed. 

The Court denied petitioners motion to dismiss counts two, three and four 

of the Superseding Indictment (“Motion to Dismiss”).  The Court’s decision held 
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that the Petitioner’s business was a money transmitting business under 18 

U.S.C. § 1960.  ECF No. 110.  This was the first time any legal authority had 

concluded that the Petitioners were operating a money transmitting business. 

Had the Court known of the findings and reasoning of the Florida OFR 

Legal Opinion, which contradict the Court’s analysis in its ruling on the 

Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss, it would have informed the Court’s analysis 

regarding the definition of “money transmitting business” and it would have 

certainly figured prominently in the Petitioners’ Motion to Dismiss that the 

Petitioners’ businesses were not “money transmitting businesses” subject to 

regulation under § 1960.  But rather than revealing the Florida OFR analysis, 

the Government, informed by that analysis, crafted their criminal complaint so 

as to purposely obfuscate both the segregation of roles of the two companies, 

styling them as an aggregate “e-gold Operation”, and their respective business 

and transaction models, in order to mislead the court to view the two distinct 

companies with their distinct roles as one entity.  

The Florida OFR Legal Opinion would have also figured prominently in the 

Petitioners’ decision whether to plead guilty or go to trial with this exculpatory 

information in hand.  Because of the Government’s obfuscation of the Florida 

OFR Legal Opinion, neither the Petitioners, their lawyers, nor the Court had 

access to this exculpatory information. If the Government had provided the 

Petitioners this information, which they were required to do under Brady, even 

if the Court’s decision on the Motion to Dismiss had been the same, the 

Petitioners would not have pled guilty. 
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On or about July 21, 2008, Petitioners entered into plea agreements with 

the Government in connection with the charges brought against them in this 

proceeding. See Petitioners’ Plea Agreements [ECF Nos. 130, 133, 136, 139, 142]. 

Pursuant to these plea agreements:  

1. Petitioners  EGL and GSR agreed to plead guilty to Count I and 

Count II; 

2. Petitioner Douglas Jackson agreed to plead guilty to Count I and 

Count III; and 

3. Petitioners Barry Downey and Reid Jackson agreed to plead guilty 

to Count IV.  

See id.

EGL and GSR were each sentenced to, inter alia, 36 months of probation 

and a $300,000 fine. See Judgment as to EGL [ECF No. 180] (Dec. 16, 2008); 

Judgment as to GSR [ECF No. 182] (Dec. 16, 2008). Reid Jackson and Barry 

Downey each received, inter alia, suspended sentences of 180 days’ 

imprisonment and 36 months of probation. See Judgment as to Barry Downey 

[ECF No. 184] (Dec. 16, 2008); Judgment as to Reid Jackson [ECF No. 186] (Dec. 

16, 2008). Douglas Jackson was sentenced, inter alia, to time served and 36 

months of supervised release. See Judgment as to Douglas Jackson [ECF No. 

189] (Dec. 16, 2008). 

E. Petitioners Discover Existence of Florida OFR Legal Opinion; D.C. 
DISB Opines Gold-Backed Digital Currency Is Not A Money 
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Transmitter 

On or about June 23, 2016, D.C. DISB issued an opinion as to whether 

CMO, Inc., doing business as “COEPTIS”, was required to register as a money 

transmitter with D.C. DISB under the D.C. Money Transmitters Act. See Letter 

from Charlotte Parker to William Cunningham, at 1 (Jun. 23, 2016) (“DISB 

Opinion Letter”), attached hereto as Exhibit 12.4 As described in the DISB 

Opinion Letter, COEPTIS sought D.C. DISB’s approval for a payment model 

extremely similar to the E-gold System. COEPTIS intended to issue a “privately 

issued currency (AUG) that will be 100% reserved by physical gold,” which would 

be traded online on a “Global Standard System.” See id. The online system would 

deal exclusively in this gold-backed digital currency. See id. Exchanges of the 

digital currency for national currencies would be handled by third party 

exchanges independent from the platform on which the digital currency was 

transferred from one user to another. See id. From these facts, all of which were 

also true for the E-gold System, D.C. DISB concluded “COEPTIS does not require 

a money transmitter license pursuant to the District of Columbia Money 

Transmitters Act of 2000 . . . because the transactions as described do not 

involve the transmission of money.” See id. at 2 (internal quotation omitted). D.C. 

DISB drew this conclusion because it specifically found that “COEPTIS is 

engaged in a two party business model that does not involve the transfer of 

‘money’ or ‘a medium of exchange authorized or adopted by a government as part 

4 Exhibit 12 references three exhibits. Petitioners received two of these three 
exhibits, which are included in Exhibit 12. Petitioners do not have access to 
Exhibit A, and that exhibit is not included in Exhibit 12.  
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of its currency.’” See id. This conclusion was nearly identical to that reached by 

Oglo in the Florida OFR Legal Opinion. Compare id. with Exhibit 8 at 3-4.  

After reviewing a copy of the DISB Opinion Letter, which was not issued 

until after Petitioners completed their respective sentences, Petitioners realized 

for the first time that the Government may have misrepresented the applicability 

of state money transmitter laws to digital currencies like e-gold. Petitioners 

submitted public records requests to Florida OFR and D.C. DISB for, inter alia, 

documents regarding any review of whether Petitioners were required to register 

as money transmitters under applicable state law.  

Florida OFR responded to Petitioners’ request with several documents, 

including a copy of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion and emails documenting the 

Government’s suppression of that opinion. Petitioners made a follow-up request 

to Florida OFR, including for documents received by Florida OFR from the 

Government, but were informed that the agency had no more responsive 

documents in part because it had destroyed all physical copies of those 

documents in 2014. D.C. DISB did not produce any documents in response to 

Petitioners’ request, and the District of Columbia did not grant Petitioners’ 

appeal of D.C. DISB’s determination not to respond.  

After learning that the Government had intentionally suppressed the 

Florida OFR Legal Opinion, Petitioners diligently sought additional information 

and redress from the Government. Petitioners submitted the information they 

had found to the Department of Homeland Security’s Office of the Inspector 

General. Petitioners also attempted on multiple occasions to contact the USAO 
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in an attempt to seek redress for its suppression and concealment of the clearly 

exculpatory Florida OFR Legal Opinion. Having received no responses from these 

agencies, this Petition followed. 

III. Discussion

The Court has jurisdiction to consider a petition for a writ of error coram 

nobis under the All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1651(a). See United States v. Hansen, 

906 F. Supp. 688, 692 (D.D.C. 1995) (citing United States v. Morgan, 346 U.S. 

502, 506 (1954); United States v. Ayala, 894 F.2d 425, 427–28 (D.C. Cir. 1990)); 

see also United States v. Denedo, 556 U.S. 904, 913-14 (2009) (describing coram 

nobis as “a step in the criminal case” for which the court has jurisdiction if it 

had jurisdiction over the original criminal matter it relates to). Coram nobis is 

available in the Court’s discretion “to correct serious defects underlying the 

conviction or sentence if those defects were not correctable on appeal or where 

exceptional circumstances otherwise justify such relief.” See Hansen, 906 F. 

Supp. at 692 (internal citations omitted). While the decision of whether to grant 

coram nobis relief “is a decision committed to the discretion of the Court,” courts 

in the D.C. Circuit apply a four-part test to determine whether such relief is 

appropriate: 

(1) a more usual remedy is not available; (2) valid reasons exist for 
not attacking the conviction earlier; (3) adverse consequences exist 
from the conviction sufficient to satisfy the case or controversy 
requirement of Article III; and (4) the error is of the most 
fundamental character. 

Id. at 692-93 (quoting Hirabayashi v. United States, 828 F.2d 591, 604 (9th Cir. 

1987)).  
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A. No Other Remedy Is Available To Petitioners 

The first prong of the four-part test, that “a more usual remedy is not 

available,” is satisfied because Petitioners are not “in custody” and therefore are 

not able to challenge their convictions under the federal habeas corpus statute. 

Hansen, 906 F. Supp. at 692, see 28 U.S.C. §§ 2241, 2255. The circumstances 

presented by this Petition—a collateral attack on convictions that are otherwise 

beyond the reach of the habeas corpus statute—is precisely the case that the 

Supreme Court considered when it recognized the continued vitality of the writ 

of error coram nobis in Morgan. See Ayala, 894 F.2d at 427-28 (citing Morgan, 

346 U.S. at 506-10). Courts in this circuit have held this element is satisfied 

where the petitioner is not in custody. See United States v. Faison, 956 F. Supp. 

2d 267, 269 (D.D.C. 2013); Hansen, 906 F. Supp. at 693; see also United States 

v. Newman, 805 F.3d 1143, 1146 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (“A petition for a writ of coram 

nobis provides a way to collaterally attack a criminal conviction for a person ... 

who is no longer ‘in custody’ and therefore cannot seek habeas relief under 28 

U.S.C. § 2255 or § 2241.”) (quoting Chaidez v. United States, 568 U.S. 342, 345 

n.1 (2013)).  

Coram nobis relief is particularly appropriate in this case because 

Petitioners did not serve a custodial sentence5 for the convictions they challenge 

in this Petition. See Section I.D, supra. Petitioners therefore never had an 

5 As described in Section I.D, supra, Petitioners Reid Jackson and Barry 
Downey received suspended custodial sentences of 180 days each and 
Petitioner Douglas Jackson was sentenced to time served. As such, none of the 
Petitioners were held “in custody” after the entry of judgment against them in 
this proceeding. 
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opportunity to pursue “a more usual remedy” in the form of a writ of habeas 

corpus. Additionally, and as discussed in detail in Section I.C, supra, Petitioners 

could not have challenged the charges against them during the duration of their 

sentences because the facts underlying their challenge had been concealed from 

them by the Government. Petitioners do not have recourse to a “more usual 

remedy,” and coram nobis relief is therefore justified in this case.  

B. The Government’s Intentional Suppression of the Florida OFR Legal 
Opinion Prevented Petitioners From Challenging Their Convictions 
Sooner 

The second prong of the four-part test, that “valid reasons exist for not 

attacking the conviction sooner,” is satisfied because the Government’s 

intentional suppression of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion prevented Petitioners 

from bringing this Petition or otherwise acting on the existence of the Florida 

OFR Legal Opinion before the completion of their sentences. See Hansen, 906 F. 

Supp. at 693.  

As discussed in Section I.C, supra, Florida OFR had preliminarily 

determined that, contrary to the Government’s representations to the Court in 

the initial in rem forfeiture proceeding against GSR’s assets, Petitioners were not 

subject to registration as money transmitters under Florida law before 

Petitioners were indicted in this proceeding. See Florida OFR Legal Opinion, 

Exhibit 8 at 4. The Government was well aware of this determination because 

Government investigators and attorneys, including Dotson and Peretti, were in 

regular contact with Florida OFR staff throughout Florida OFR’s review of e-gold. 

See Exhibits 1, 2, 4, 5, 9. The Government instructed Florida OFR to avoid 
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finalizing or publishing the Florida OFR Legal Opinion or any other formal 

determination with respect to e-gold, specifically because the Government did 

not want Florida OFR to make any determinations that would make it difficult 

to obtain an indictment against Petitioners from the grand jury. See Exhibit 9. 

The Government also concealed the existence of Florida OFR’s review of e-gold’s 

regulatory status from Petitioners by instructing Florida OFR staff to avoid 

contact with Petitioners or their employees. See Exhibit 2.  

The Government was required to disclose the existence of the Florida OFR 

Legal Opinion to Petitioners pursuant to their Brady obligations. See Section 

II.D, infra. Instead, the Government acted to conceal the existence of Florida 

OFR’s review of e-gold from Petitioners and to suppress the Florida OFR Legal 

Opinion. As a result, Petitioners did not learn of the existence of the Florida OFR 

Legal Opinion until long after their sentences had ended. Petitioners cannot be 

faulted for failing to discover the unpublished Florida OFR Legal Opinion that 

the Government intentionally suppressed. Cf. Hirabayashi, 828 F.2d at 605 

(holding a petition for a writ of error coram nobis was not barred by laches where 

the basis of the petition was an official report whose existence had been 

suppressed by the Government for nearly 40 years). Upon learning of the 

existence of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, Petitioners diligently sought 

additional information from state and federal agencies and redress from the 

Government. Petitioners brought this Petition after exhausting available sources 

of additional information about the Florida OFR review whose existence the 

Government had intentionally concealed from them. Valid reasons therefore exist 
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for not bringing this Petition sooner, and coram nobis relief is justified in this 

case.  

C. Petitioners Continue To Suffer Adverse Consequences Because Their 
Convictions Prevent Them From Operating E-Gold Or Another 
Digital Currency Business 

The third prong of the District of Columbia’s four-part test requires that 

“adverse consequences exist from the conviction sufficient to satisfy the case or 

controversy requirement of Article III”. Hansen, 906 F. Supp. at 692-93. This 

prong is met because Petitioners’ convictions disqualify them from obtaining the 

licenses necessary to operate the E-gold System or a similar digital currency 

enterprise in all 50 states.  

The Supreme Court has held that,  

to satisfy Article III's standing requirements, a plaintiff must show 
(1) it has suffered an “injury in fact” that is (a) concrete and 
particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or 
hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action 
of the defendant; and 3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, 
that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. 

Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180–

81 (2000). In the context of a petition for a writ of error coram nobis, the 

petitioner must “demonstrate that he is suffering civil liabilities as a consequence 

of the criminal conviction.” Hansen, 906 F. Supp. at 693 (quoting United States 

v. Castro, 26 F.3d 557, 559 (7th Cir. 1994)).  

In this case, Petitioners continue to suffer civil liabilities as a result of their 

convictions because those convictions bar them from obtaining money 

transmitter licenses to operate the E-gold System or a similar digital currency 

business in all 50 states. Because of the online nature of such enterprises and 
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their dependency on adoption by online merchants who sell to customers 

throughout the United States and beyond, the ability to facilitate transactions 

without regard to state borders is essential to any digital currency business 

Petitioners might seek to run.  

While the Florida OFR Legal Opinion and the DISB Opinion Letter show 

that Petitioners were not required to register as money transmitters in Florida or 

the District of Columbia at the time of their convictions in this proceeding, other 

states have since adopted laws requiring money transmitting licenses or 

registration where a business transmits abstract “monetary value” other than 

national currency. See, e.g., N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 399-G:1(XV)-(XVI) (2016) 

(“‘Monetary value’ means a medium of exchange, whether or not redeemable in 

currency, and includes convertible virtual currency.”); Conn. Gen. Stat. § 36a-

596(5), (7) (2012) (“‘Monetary value’ means a medium of exchange, whether or 

not redeemable in money.”); Miss. Code Ann. § 75-15-3(f)-(g) (2013) (“‘Monetary 

value’ means a medium of exchange, whether or not redeemable in money.”). At 

least one of these states has adopted a per se rule barring any person from 

obtaining a money transmitting license if they have been convicted of any felony. 

See Miss. Code Ann. § 75-15-11(e) (2013) (“The department shall not issue a 

license if it finds that the applicant, or any person who is an owner, partner, 

director or executive officer of the applicant, has been convicted of: (i) a felony in 

any jurisdiction . . .”). In other jurisdictions, prior felony convictions or other 

violations of federal law are grounds for the denial of an application for a money 

transmitter license. See N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 399-G:20(III)(j) (providing for 
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denial of a money transmitter license where the applicant or a control person of 

the applicant “[h]as violated applicable federal laws or rules thereunder”.); Conn. 

Gen. Stat. § 36a-600(c) (providing for denial of a money transmitting license 

application where the applicant or any of its control persons “have been 

convicted of any misdemeanor involving any aspect of the money transmission 

business or the business of issuing payment instruments, or any felony.”). 

Notably, following their plea agreements in this proceeding, Petitioner GSR 

attempted to obtain a money transmitter license from Florida OFR, and Florida 

OFR denied GSR’s money transmitter license application on account of GSR, 

Douglas Jackson and Reid Jackson’s convictions in this proceeding. See Letter 

from Terence M. Straub to Carol R. Van Cleef at 1-3 (Apr. 16, 2009), attached 

hereto as Exhibit 13.  

Petitioners Douglas Jackson, Downey, and Reid Jackson also continue to 

suffer the abridgement of their civil rights as a result of their convictions, 

including the loss of their right to serve on a jury and to own a firearm. See 18 

U.S.C. § 922(g)(1) (making it unlawful for any person who has been convicted of 

“a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year6 . . . to ship 

or transport in interstate or foreign commerce, or possess in or affecting 

commerce, any firearm or ammunition”); Fla. Stat. § 40.013 (disqualifying 

anyone convicted of any crime in any federal court from serving as a juror in 

6 Downey and Reid Jackson pleaded guilty to a violation of D.C. Code § 26-1002, which is 
punishable by imprisonment of not more than 5 years. See D.C. Code § 26-1023(c). Douglas 
Jackson pleaded guilty to, inter alia, conspiracy to operate an unlicensed money transmitting 
business in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, which is also punishable by imprisonment of not more 
than 5 years. See 18 U.S.C. § 371.  
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Florida courts). The Supreme Court has recognized that these “collateral 

consequences” of conviction are sufficient to sustain a petition for habeas 

corpus, even after the petitioner was released from custody. See Carafas v. 

LaVallee, 391 U.S. 234, 237-38 (1968). And courts in other circuits have held 

that these collateral consequences are sufficient to sustain a petition for a writ 

of error coram nobis. See United States v. Keane, 852 F.2d 199, 203 (7th Cir. 

1988); United States v. Jackson, 371 F. Supp. 3d 257, 265-66 (E.D. Va. 2019). 

These collateral consequences are also redressable by the Court’s grant of coram 

nobis relief in this case because vacating Petitioners’ convictions would enable 

them to again serve as jurors and exercise their right to bear arms. The collateral 

consequences Petitioners are suffering are therefore independently sufficient to 

satisfy the case or controversy requirements under Article III.   

Petitioners continue to suffer adverse consequences from their convictions 

because the state laws discussed herein prevent Petitioners from obtaining the 

licenses necessary to operate the E-gold System or a similar digital currency 

business in all 50 states, as necessary to make such a business viable, for as 

long as their convictions stand. Petitioners also continue to suffer abridgements 

of their civil rights, including their right to own firearms or serve as jurors, 

because their convictions continue to stand. The Court’s grant of coram nobis 

relief in this case would alleviate these adverse consequences by vacating the 

convictions that bar Petitioners from carrying on their digital currency business 

in a lawful manner. This case therefore satisfies the case-or-controversy 

requirement of Article III, and coram nobis relief is justified in this case. 
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D. The Government’s Suppression of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion Is 
An “Error Of The Most Fundamental Character”  

The final prong of the four-part test requires that the error forming the 

basis of the petition “is of the most fundamental character.” See Hansen, 906 F. 

Supp. at 693. In this case, the Government’s intentional suppression of the 

Florida OFR Legal Opinion was such a fundamental error because that act 

violated Petitioners’ Constitutional due process rights as recognized in Brady

and its progeny. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 86 (1963); see also United 

States v. Mahaffy, 693 F.3d 113, 134 (2d Cir. 2012) (holding, in the context of a 

post-conviction motion for a new trial, that vacatur of defendants’ convictions 

was warranted in light of the Government’s Brady violations).  

The D.C. Circuit applies a three-part test to determine whether the 

Government failed to meet its Brady obligations with respect to a particular piece 

of evidence: 

First, “[t]he evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, 
either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching.” 
Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281–82, 119 S. Ct. 1936, 144 L. 
Ed. 2d 286 (1999). Second, the “evidence must have been 
suppressed by the [government], either willfully or inadvertently.” Id.
at 282, 119 S. Ct. 1936. And third, “prejudice must have ensued.” 
Id. To satisfy the prejudice component, the defendant must show 
that “there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been 
disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have 
been different.” United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 105 S. 
Ct. 3375, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985).  

United States v. Sitzmann, 893 F.3d 811, 826 (D.C. Cir. 2018). The Government’s 

suppression of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion meets all three elements of this 

test, and therefore constitutes a Brady violation in contravention of Petitioners’ 

fundamental due process rights.  
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First, the Florida OFR Legal Opinion is favorable to Petitioners because it 

represents highly material exculpatory and impeachment evidence. The Florida 

OFR Legal Opinion represents a determination by a state regulatory agency that 

Petitioners were not required to register as money transmitters under applicable 

state law and therefore did not violate state law by operating the E-gold System 

without such registration. This determination is highly exculpatory because it is 

an explicit conclusion that Petitioners were in compliance with Florida state law, 

Florida being the only state in which EGL and GSR ever maintained a physical 

presence for any of EGL’s or GSR’s businesses. The Florida OFR Legal Opinion 

is also strong impeachment evidence because it contradicts the Government’s 

central theory of Petitioners’ guilt, namely that Petitioners had operated a money 

transmitting business without registering as such in the states in which 

Petitioners operated. The exculpatory and impeachment value of the Florida OFR 

Legal Opinion is particularly clear in light of the fact that D.C. DISB later 

determined that a digital currency substantially identical to the E-gold System 

was not required to register as a money transmitter in the District of Columbia 

on essentially the same grounds underlying the Florida OFR Legal Opinion. See

Section I.E, supra.  

Second, as established at length herein, the Government intentionally 

suppressed the Florida OFR Legal Opinion and intentionally concealed the 

existence of Florida OFR’s review of the E-gold System from Petitioners. See 

Section I.C, supra. The Government was well aware of the existence of the Florida 

OFR Legal Opinion because its agents and attorneys were in regular contact with 
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Florida OFR staff from the very beginning of Florida OFR’s review. The 

Government used this access to Florida OFR’s review to instruct Florida OFR 

staff not to communicate with the Petitioners or their employees to conceal the 

existence of the Florida OFR review from Petitioners and to deny Petitioners the 

opportunity to provide potentially useful information to Florida OFR during its 

review. See Exhibit 2. When it became clear that the Florida OFR Legal Opinion 

would be at odds with the Government’s theory of Petitioners’ culpability, the 

Government instructed Florida OFR not to finalize or publish the Florida OFR 

Legal Opinion or any other formal statement of the regulatory status of the E-

gold System under Florida law. See Exhibit 9. As a result of the Government’s 

successful efforts to suppress the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, Florida OFR quietly 

closed its review of the E-gold System without finalizing or publishing any 

conclusions shortly after Petitioners were indicted in this proceeding. See Exhibit 

10.  The suppression of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion prevented the Petitioners 

and their lawyers from having access to exculpatory evidence that not only would 

have informed the Petitioners’ legal strategy, it would have informed the Court 

in a manner pertinent to its rulings.  The Government’s suppression kept both 

the Petitioners and the Court in the blind and led both to make decisions without 

access to highly relevant and exculpatory information.  

Finally, Petitioners have suffered prejudice as a result of the Government’s 

suppression of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion because there is a “reasonable 

probability” that “the result of the proceeding would have been different” had the 

Government revealed its existence to Petitioners before they entered their guilty 
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pleas in this proceeding. See Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682. The revelation of the 

Florida OFR Legal Opinion’s existence would have materially altered the 

Petitioners’ willingness to plead guilty in advance of trial. This is particularly so 

because Petitioners’ awareness of Florida OFR’s conclusions would have caused 

them to seek a similar opinion of the regulatory status of the E-gold System from 

D.C. DISB. This inquiry would almost certainly have resulted in the receipt of 

yet more exculpatory evidence because D.C. DISB concluded that a payment 

system very similar to the E-gold System was not subject to registration with 

D.C. DISB for reasons that are substantially identical to those relied upon by 

Florida OFR in the Florida OFR Legal Opinion. Compare Exhibit 12 with Exhibit 

8. At a minimum, Petitioners would not have been willing to plead guilty to Count 

IV, which alleged a violation of D.C.’s money transmission registration laws, had 

they known that they were not required to register as money transmitters under 

D.C. law, which they would have learned absent the Government’s suppression 

of the Florida OFR Legal Opinion. There is also a reasonable probability that 

Petitioners would have opted to go to trial rather than plead guilty to the 

remaining three counts of the Indictment had they known that they had a 

complete defense to one of the grounds on which they were alleged to have 

violated 18 U.S.C. § 1960. See 18 U.S.C. § 1960(b)(1)(A) (providing a person is 

an “unlicensed money transmitting business” where they failed to obtain a 

requisite money transmitting license from a state government).  

By intentionally suppressing the Florida OFR Legal Opinion, the 

Government prejudiced Petitioners by intentionally depriving them of a key piece 
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of exculpatory and impeaching evidence as well as the opportunity to gather 

additional highly material evidence of their innocence. The Government therefore 

violated Petitioners’ due process rights by failing to uphold its obligations under 

Brady and its progeny. This violation of Petitioners’ Constitutional rights is an 

“error of the most fundamental character,” and coram nobis relief to correct that 

error is therefore justified in this proceeding.    

III. Conclusion

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request the Court 

GRANT the Petition in its entirety, issue a writ of error coram nobis in favor of 

Petitioners, and vacate, with prejudice, Petitioners’ convictions in this 

proceeding. 

Dated: July 2, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

KUTAK ROCK LLP 

By: /s/ David A. Warrington 

David A. Warrington (VSB No. 72293)

901 East Byrd Street 
Suite 1000 
Richmond, Virginia 23219-4071 
Telephone: (202) 828-2400 
Facsimile: (202) 828-2488 
david.warrington@kutakrock.com  

Attorneys for Defendant-Petitioners 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 2nd day of July, 2020, a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing was served via ECF on all counsel of record. 

/s/ David A. Warrington 
David A. Warrington 
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Porter, Chase 
From:

 Roy Dotson, Daniel  
Sent: Monday, May 22, 2006 11:01 AM 
To: David Burley 
Subject: RE: Interviews 
Thanks David, I thought maybe someone had talked to Jackson in the past, I was mistaken.  Talk to you soon.  
  
Roy   

 
From: David Burley [mailto:David.Burley@fldfs.com]   
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2006 3:04 PM  
To: Roy Dotson, Daniel  
Subject: RE: Interviews Importance: 
High  
  
Roy:  
I believe you are confusing our Tampa Office’s interview with Richard Wahl of the Tampa Exchange.  This interview was 
in February and conducted by Danielle Brooks, a Financial Crimes Investigator with our Tampa Office, in connection with 
a complaint involving a high yield investment program (Atlantis Society) using E-gold accounts.  
We have not interviewed Douglas Jackson or any of the employees at G&SR or OmniPay due to your request in late 
January to not correspond with Mr. Jackson or his staff.  You explained that your investigative team did not want to give 
Mr. Jackson the opportunity to boast about his cooperation in resolving complaints and assisting government regulators.  
  
I have talked recently with my supervisor and our administrators in Tallahassee about trying to pursue the two complaints 
I have complaining of missing funds from their   E-gold accounts, including the latest complaint I forwarded to you 
regarding Robert Donald, the investment trader from New York.  They have asked me to not pursue my complaints 
directly with G&SR or E-gold, Ltd., until a decision is made by our Legal Department on whether we have jurisdiction over 
their business operations.  
  
Please feel free to address Robert Donald’s complaint and allegations of insider theft directly with Mr. Jackson and/or 
G&SR, as the administrator of the E-gold system.  
I hope we will soon have a legal opinion determining whether they and all of the exchange outlets meet our definition of a 
funds transmitter and/or currency exchanger, under Chapter 560 of the Florida Statutes.  
  
I hope this information helps,  
  David    

From: Roy Dotson, Daniel [mailto: 
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2006 12:58 PM  
To: David Burley  
Subject: Interviews  
  
Dave,  
  
Thanks for all the help.  The AUSA is wondering if any notes were kept from interviews with Douglas Jackson (GSR).  If 
so, can you get me copies of them.  
  

Case 1:07-cr-00109-RMC   Document 211-3   Filed 07/02/20   Page 1 of 1



Case 1:07-cr-00109-RMC   Document 211-4   Filed 07/02/20   Page 1 of 1



 

 

Porter, Chase 
 

From: David Burley 
Sent: Monday, May 22, 2006 3:10 PM 
To: 'Roy Dotson, Daniel' 
Cc: Jo Schultz; Peter Fisher; Mike Ramsden 
Subject: RE: Legal Contact 

Importance: High 
Roy:  
I spoke with Mike Ramsden, the Administrator of our Money Transmitter Unit, regarding his referral to our Legal  
Department for an opinion on whether the business operations of E-gold, Ltd, and the E-gold exchange outlets, fall under 
our money transmitter statutes found in Chapter 560, of the Florida Statutes.  He advised that you should refer your AUSA 
and the DOJ attorneys to our General Counsel’s office in Tallahassee, more specifically to either of the following persons: 
  
Ms. Jo Schultz, Chief Counsel  
(850) 410 - 9896   
Jo.Schultz@FLDFS.com  
  
Peter Fisher, Chief Counsel  
(850) 410 – 9896  
Peter.Fisher@FLDFS.com  
  
Take care,  
David  

 
From: Roy Dotson, Daniel [mailto:Roy.Dotson@usss.dhs.gov]   
Sent: Monday, May 22, 2006 11:08 AM  
To: David Burley  
Subject: Legal Contact  
  
David,  
  
The AUSA and DOJ attorney would like a contact in your legal department to reference determining where E-Gold falls.  
Can you send me a name and number please?  
  
Thanks,  
Roy  
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From: Chris Hancock
To: Robert Rosenau
Subject: FW: E-Gold case status
Date: Tuesday, February 06, 2007 2:28:13 PM

FYI

From: Alex Toledo 
Sent: Tuesday, February 06, 2007 11:26 AM
To: Chris Hancock
Subject: FW: E-Gold case status

Chris:

Please see David’s communication below. It appears the company is showing a willingness to register as
a money transmitter in Florida and potentially other states. An agreement appears to be in the works
though it, and the information below, is still a part of the USDOJ’s confidential investigation. Let’s
discuss when you have an opportunity.

Alex

From: David Burley
Sent: Tuesday, February 06, 2007 11:12 AM
To: Alex Toledo
Subject: E-Gold case status

Alex:

I just spoke this morning with SA Roy Dotson with the U.S. Secret Service and Kim Predi, U.S. Attorney
(Washington, D.C.) for the Dept. of Justice regarding their investigation of E-Gold and several other
digital currencies. Agent Dotson and AUSA Predi requested that OFR and the State of Florida continue
to delay any declarations or Orders regarding the regulatory status of E-gold and related entities as
possible money transmitters. Their actions are still under seal though they did want us to pass along to
Tallahassee that their grand jury investigation is almost wrapped up, and they believe the final resolution
will be very beneficial to the federal agencies and each of the states with money transmitter regulations.
Agent Dotson will keep us updated as their investigation and the DOJ’s prosecution concludes.
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U.S. Department of Justice

Criminal Division

Computer Crime & Intellectual Property Section
1301 New York Ave., Suite 600
Washington, D.C. 20530
PHONE: (202) 514-1026
FAX: (202) 514-6113

April 7, 2008

VIA e-Mail

Joshua G. Berman, Esq.
Machalagh Proffit-Higgins, Esq.
Sonnenschein Nath & Rosenthal LLP
1301 K St., NW
Suite 600, East Tower
Washington, D.C. 20005
jjçpnan@sonnenschein.corn
rnproffit@sonnenschein.com

Mitchell Fuerst, Esq.
Andrew Ittleman, Esq.
Fuerst Humphrey Ittleman
1001 Brickell Bay Drive
Suite 2002
Miami, Florida 33131
mfuerst@fuerstlaw.com
aittleman@fuerstlaw.com

Michelle Peterson, Esq.
Federal Public Defender
625 Indiana Ave., NW
Suite 550
Washington, D.C. 20004-2923
shellipeterson@fd.org

Barry J. Pollack, Esq.
Kelley Diye Collier Shannon
3050 K St., NW
Suite 400
Washington, D.C. 2007
bpollack@kelleydrye.com
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Aron Raskas, Esq.
Kramon & Graham, P.A.
One South Street
Suite 2600
Baltimore, Maryland 21202-3201
araskas@kg-law.com

Bernard S. Grimm
Cozen O'Connor
The Army and Navy Club Building, Ste. 1100
1627 I Street, NW
Washington, DC 20006
hghnm@cozen.com

Re: United States v. e-gold, Ltd., et a!., Crim. No. 07-109 (RMC)

Dear Counsel:

In accordance with the amended Scheduling Order, the following is responsive to Item
#2, which requires the Government to produce, to the extent it has not already been produced, all
material pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, Giglio v. United States, and their progeny by April 7,
2008. Although we do not believe that the following information is materially exculpatory, we
disclose it out of an abundance of caution.

As you know from the Superseding Indictment (and, before that, the original Indictment),
"the defendants and their employees recognized that certain accounts were being used for
criminal purposes," and "[o]n numerous occasions" they "indicated in the account records
contained in the 'e-gold' computer database the type of criminal activity that the account-holder
was engaged in." See Superseding Indictment, ¶ 34. Further, e-gold "regularly received
complaints from customers that they had been the victim of a crime and also regularly received
notification from customers of specific 'e-gold' accounts that were involved in criminal activity."
Id. at ¶ 35. After having "discovered that its customers were involved in activity that appeared to
be unlawful, it would require that customer to submit paperwork establishing that the customer
was not an affiliate of the E-GOLD operation, but then allow the customer to continue operating
once the paperwork was received rather than closing the account and refusing to engage in
conducting further criminal financial transactions." Id. at ¶ 36. "When a specific account was
determined to be engaged in criminal activity, defendants would regularly place a "value-limit"
on that account, a procedure whereby an entry would be made in the E-GOLD database limiting
the incoming 'c-gold' funds that could be received by that account. . . , but not limiting the
ability of the account-holder to spend the funds already in the account." Id. at ¶ 38.

During the investigation of the defendants, several employees of the defendant businesses
provided information about the c-gold operation's Due Diligence Unit, which reportedly handled

2
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complaints from customers and others and purported to investigate possible illegal activity in the
e-gold system. Several employees also provided information concerning the value-limiting,
freezing, and blocking of e-gold accounts connected to criminal activity.

In addition, William Cunningham, who was associated with the defendants, provided
information that defendants believe that their business is not in violation of the law; that it exists
in a gray area in the law; and that they engaged an attorney to submit to an audit to determine
their compliance. Charles Evans, Jr., who also was associated with the e-gold operation until
approximately 2000, provided information that defendants Douglas Jackson and Barry Downey
expressed on several occasions that they disliked that e-gold was being used for criminal activity.
These defendants also stated to Evans that e-gold was not subject to government regulation.
Evans also indicated that Douglas Jackson had told employees that it was their job to know their
customers, not their customers' customers, A former employee named Steve Forrester provided
information that Douglas Jackson had closed a particular account involved in an investment scam
- Lawton Coonts of CostaGold. A former employee named Ben Lawrence, who worked for the
defendant companies until 2003, provided information that, by validating e-mail accounts
associated with accounts, Douglas Jackson believed investigators would have a starting point in
an investigation. Lawrence also stated that Randy Trotter was the fraud investigator who tried to
identify account holders with scams.

A former employee named Sean Dickens provided information that Defendant Douglas
Jackson had expressed that he did not want criminal activity being conducted using the e-gold
system. Dickens also provided information that the company was making money from
investment scams, but he thought the company wanted to move away from that activity. William
Okerstrom, an employee of Gold & Silver Reserve, Inc., provided information that he had
participated in investigating possible fake websites that were being used to defraud c-gold
account holders, and that he would visit suspected fraudulent web sites and attempt to shut them
down.

Randy Trotter, an employee, provided information that he would investigate complaints
of criminal activity; he would investigate whether an account holder engaged in criminal activity
also held other accounts; that value limits would be placed on accounts for various reasons; that
he did not routinely pass along to the individual defendants information about specific customer
complaints; that initially he and Defendant Douglas Jackson believed that reports of child
pornography being bought/sold using e-gold actually involved web sites engaged in stealing
customer password information; that he believed that after they learned that actual child
pornography was being transferred using e-gold, that Defendant Douglas Jackson implemented a
system of freezing the accounts of those selling the material; that the operation became frustrated
with law enforcement for failing to pursue information about possible criminal activity; that
Defendant Douglas Jackson expressed frustration with e-gold being used for improper purposes;
that he believed the company did not have the resources to change its operating system; that at
some point during his tenure with the company, the practice began of value limiting certain
accounts to $0; that accounts would be value-limited because the account holder had provided
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false or insufficient identification information; that he would investigate whether particular web
sites were engaged in selling child pornography using c-gold; that Defendant Douglas Jackson
assisted law enforcement with an investigation into credit card fraud, which involved leaving
certain suspect accounts active to assist the investigation; and that he would limit or block
accounts opened using apparently fictitious information. John Eichen, a former employee,
provided information that he believed the company was legitimate and ran by the book at the
start, and that Douglas Jackson was against fraud because he would not want to hurt the system
over some technicality. Ian Grigg, a former business partner associated with Douglas Jackson
prior to 2000, provided information that Jackson had written a document describing how Jackson
was going to apply due diligence to a business that may have been involved in investment scams.

In addition, in a report dated March 21, 2005, BSA examiner Lisa Moffitt indicates that
Mitchell Fuerst stated that he had spoken with FinCEN regarding whether the defendant
businesses were an MSB. In addition, in a report dated May 3, 2005, Ms. Moffitt reported that:
"Since there were no more questions by anyone present the meeting was concluded. [Donna]
Dohrman stated she would summarize her notes and forward those to FinCen to ask them to
make a determination whether they are an MSB. In the interim Moffitt will prepare and issue a
Domuent Request and make arrangements to review these records the purpose of which is to
corroborate their oral testimony as told to Fuerst at an earlier date. [Steve] Anderson emphasized
that we want to make an expeditious but also accurate determination of whether they are or are
not an MSB and if so what BSA requirements should apply to them."

In addition, Shaun McLeary of New Scotland Yard in the United Kingdom, provided
information that Douglas Jackson was cooperative and helpful in supplying information related
to c-gold in connection with an investigation he was conducting. Gregory S. Crabb and William
A. Schambura of the U.S. Postal Inspection Service provided information that Douglas Jackson
was cooperative and helpful in supplying e-gold account information related to individuals
involved in buying and selling stolen credit card numbers and other financial information. Ernie
Allen of the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children provided information that
Douglas Jackson had been helpful and responded to leads with detailed information.

We believe that you already have contact information for these individuals, should you
wish to seek to interview them. If that is incorrect, please contact us for additional information
that may assist in locating them.

Sincere

Kimberly Kiefer Peretti
Senior Counsel

cc: Jonathan Haray, AUSA
Laurel Loomis Rimon, Deputy Chief, AFMLS
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